ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

AUG 19 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from York County
Daniel B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MICHAEL RAMEY,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-002459

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CARMEN V. GANJEHSANI
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

During the sentencing of Appellant, the Trial Court erred by considering confidential communications between Appellant and his court-ordered therapist which are privileged under the psychotherapist-patient privilege set forth in S.C. CODE ANN. § 19-11-95.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 18, 2013, Appellant Michael Ramey was indicted by the York County Grand Jury for one count of criminal sexual conduct with a minor, second degree in violation of S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-3-655(B)(2). R. 44.

On November 7, 2013, Appellant pled guilty to assault with intent to commit criminal sexual conduct with a minor, second degree in violation of § 16-3-656¹ before the Honorable Daniel B. Hocker. R. 1-34. Appellant was represented by Harry A. Dest, and the State was represented by Assistant Solicitor Erin M. Joyner. R. 1. At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Hocker sentenced Appellant to twelve years imprisonment. R. 33, l. 23 – 34, l. 2; R.43 [Sentencing sheet].

On November 15, 2013, Appellant timely filed and served a Notice of Appeal. In this Notice, Appellant raised the following issue:

During the plea hearing on November 7, 2013, Appellant's counsel objected on the record to the State presenting confidential information that the Appellant revealed to a court ordered therapist during treatment while under the authority of the North Carolina Department of Juvenile Justice. The Court overruled the objection and allowed the State to use this information as an aggravating factor to argue for a severe sentence at [the] sentencing phase of the plea.

As a result, the Appellant received a sentence of twelve (12) years. The Appellant contends that allowing this type of evidence for consideration in determining an appropriate sentence was an error of law and abuse of discretion.

¹ Appellant was indicted under the wrong subsection of the statute. He pled guilty to a direct indictment for assault with intent to commit criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the second degree. R. 4, ll. 16-25.

ARGUMENT

During the sentencing of Appellant, the Trial Court erred by considering confidential communications between Appellant and his court-ordered therapist which are privileged under the psychotherapist-patient privilege set forth in S.C. CODE ANN. § 19-11-95.

Prior to the sentencing of Appellant, plea counsel objected to the Solicitor's use of any information revealed by Appellant to a therapist as a result of court-ordered therapy relating to a juvenile offense committed by Appellant in the State of North Carolina when he was fifteen years old. R. 19, l. 6 – 20, l. 5; R. 36 [Court's Exhibit 1 (N.C. Juvenile Adjudication)]. Plea counsel argued that Appellant revealed very sensitive information and if such information did not remain confidential, it "would have a chilling affect for future cases for those who are similarly situated to my client in trying to get treatment." R. 19, ll. 15-20. Plea counsel also pointed out that details revealed by Appellant to his therapist were situations that did not result in a charge or conviction such that those prior incidents should not be considered in the court's sentencing. R. 19, l. 20 – 20, l. 1.

Judge Hocker ruled that he was "not going to handicap whatever the State wants to present to me or what the defense wants to present to me concerning the sentencing, and it would boil down to whatever weight that I would give that information that the Solicitor presents to me concerning sentencing, and certainly the weight that I give it, I will certainly take that into account what you have just informed me in support of your objection." R. 21, ll. 6-17.

The Solicitor argued for a sentence at the upper end of the maximum sentencing range and called Appellant "a tremendous danger to the community." R. 25, ll. 13-17. The Solicitor then described two prior incidents in which Appellant was involved. In 2006, Appellant, who was fifteen at the time, was adjudicated as a juvenile in North Carolina for a

sexual offense upon a six year old child. R. 25, l. 25 – 26, l. 16; R. 36 [Court's Exhibit 1 (N.C. Juvenile Adjudication)]. Appellant was ordered into counseling for that offense. R. 26, ll. 16-18. In 2008, Appellant was disciplined at school – either an expulsion or a suspension – for allegedly touching a female student twice in her private parts. R. 26, ll. 20-23.

Using the confidential therapist records, the Solicitor stated that while Appellant was in counseling at New Hope² in 2010, the counselor apparently expressed “serious concern about [Appellant], that he had made no progress in two years, had continued to act-out by touching of classroom peers while in the facility, had demonstrated anti-social personality and stated that he couldn't control himself and he wanted to continue acting out sexually.” R. 27, ll. 15-22.

Plea counsel advised the court that Appellant is twenty-three years old. At seven years old, he was characterized as mentally disabled and placed in special classes his entire academic career. His level of intellectual functioning is above mental retardation but not much above. His IQ score is in the range between 71 and 80. Appellant receives Social Security disability benefits for “chronic brain syndrome.” Appellant had a very unstable and dysfunctional family life. His father left when Appellant was five years old, leaving Appellant's mother alone to raise him and two sisters. His mother was diagnosed with cancer when Appellant was around fourteen years old, and she died while Appellant was committed in North Carolina for his juvenile offense. His sisters are now in the North Carolina Department of Corrections for drug offenses. R. 21, l. 10 – 23, l. 5.

² New Hope Treatment Center is located in Rock Hill, South Carolina. See www.newhopetreatment.com/about.

When Appellant was nine years old, he was forced to perform oral sex upon and anally raped by a fifty-six year old man. He was also forced to watch pornography by this man. Appellant was taken to the emergency room where documentation shows that he had a torn rectum. The perpetrator of that offense was sentenced to three years in the North Carolina Department of Corrections. R. 23, ll. 8-19.

The sexual assault of Appellant when he was nine years old led to a number of emotional problems. Appellant has been diagnosed with PTSD and has anxiety issues. R. 23, ll. 19-22.

Plea counsel also advised the court that Appellant has no prior record as an adult. R. 24, l. 13. Plea counsel asked the court for probation – “a very restrictive probation where he would have to report almost daily, wear a monitor” – with a substantial amount of time over his head. R. 24, ll. 20-25. In the alternative, plea counsel asked the court for a “split sentence of significant time hanging over his head with probation to follow.” R. 25, ll. 1-3.

After stating that he had “considered everything that’s been presented to me from both sides” and has a “responsibility to protect the community,” Judge Hocker sentenced Appellant to twelve years. R. 33, ll. 7-18; 33, l. 20 – 34, l. 2.

The Trial Court erred in considering the confidential and privileged communications between Appellant and his therapist when sentencing Appellant. In sentencing Appellant, the Trial Court should not have considered the therapist’s opinion that Appellant had made no progress in two years, had continued to act out by touching classroom peers in the facility, and had made statements that he could not control himself and wanted to continue acting out sexually. R. 27, ll. 15-22.

Under S.C. CODE ANN. § 19-11-95, a provider, including psychologists, professional counselors, therapists, licensed social workers and certain registered nurses who enter into a relationship with a patient to provide diagnosis, counseling, or treatment of a mental illness or emotional condition, “knowingly may not:

- (1) reveal a confidence of his patient;
- (2) use a confidence of his patient to the disadvantage of the patient;
- (3) use a confidence of his patient for the advantage of himself or of a third person, unless the patient gives written authorization after disclosure to him of what confidence is to be used and how it is to be used.

§ 19-11-95(A)(1), (B).

Confidence is defined as “a private communication between a patient and a provider or information given to a provider in the patient-provider relationship.” § 19-11-95(A)(3).

A privilege is a limitation on a court’s ability to compel testimony regarding confidential communications that occur in certain relationships. 8 WIGMORE § 2285 at 527 (McNaughton rev. 1961). There are generally four primary characteristics of a privileged communication: (1) it must originate in confidence; (2) confidence must be essential to the continued vitality of the relationship; (3) the relationship must be one society is prepared to recognize; and (4) any injury to the relationship caused by the revelation of the confidential communication must be greater than the benefit that results from revealing the confidential information. Id.

Under § 19-11-95, the General Assembly has statutorily recognized that communications between providers and patients of mental illness or emotional conditions are privileged. This statute encourages full and frank disclosures between patients and providers for the purpose of effective diagnosis, evaluation, and treatment. This privilege is

justified because “(1) counseling relationships would suffer if people chose not to communicate essential information to professionals because they feared that the professionals would be compelled to disclose such information in court and (2) such relationships involve the professional and the individual in an intimate relationship in which personal information is communicated that should be protected from public disclosure.”

Cooper v. State, 46 P.3d 884, 888 (Wyo. 2002).

The rule with respect to privileges applies at all stages of all actions, cases, and proceedings, including sentencing proceedings. Rule 1101(c), SCRE. The Trial Court’s ruling permitting the Solicitor to present the confidential communications between Appellant and his therapist in support of the State’s argument for severe sentencing of Appellant was a violation of the privilege set forth in § 19-11-95. Appellant never gave

written authorization for such disclosure and no statutory exception to the privilege was applicable.³

Appellate courts from other jurisdictions have found error in a trial court's consideration of confidential information in violation of the psychotherapist-patient privilege for purposes of sentencing or other judicial determinations. In Cooper v. State, 46 P.3d 884, 886-89 (Wyo. 2002), the Supreme Court of Wyoming held that a substance abuse therapist's testimony that the defendant had told her he sold controlled substances was not admissible at the sentencing hearing where the defendant had not waived the psychotherapist-patient privilege.

³ Under § 19-11-95(C): **A provider may reveal:** (1) confidences with the written authorization of the patient or patients affected, but only after disclosure to them of what confidences are to be revealed and to whom they will be revealed; (2) confidences when allowed by statute or other law; (3) the intention of the patient to commit a crime or harm himself and the information necessary to prevent the crime or harm; (4) confidences reasonably necessary to establish or collect his fee or to defend himself or his employees against an accusation of wrongful conduct; (5) in the course of diagnosis, counseling, or treatment, confidences necessary to promote care within the generally recognized and accepted standards, practices, and procedures of the provider's profession; (6) confidences in proceedings conducted in accord with Sections 40-71-10 and 40-71-20; (7) confidences with the written authorization of the patient or patients affected for processing their health insurance claims, but only after disclosure to them of what confidences are to be revealed and to whom they will be revealed. Under § 19-11-95(D): **A provider shall reveal:**(1) confidences when required by statutory law or by court order for good cause shown to the extent that the patient's care and treatment or the nature and extent of his mental illness or emotional condition are reasonably at issue in a proceeding; provided, however, confidences revealed shall not be used as evidence of grounds for divorce; (2) confidences pursuant to a lawfully issued subpoena by a duly constituted professional licensing or disciplinary board or panel; (3) confidences when an investigation, trial, hearing, or other proceeding by a professional licensing or disciplinary board or panel involves the question of granting a professional license or the possible revocation, suspension, or other limitation of a professional license.

In People v. Sagstetter, 532 N.E.2d 1029 (Ill. App. Ct. 1988), the Appellate Court of Illinois held that written statements made by the defendant in response to his therapist's suggestion that he put down his thoughts were confidential elements of his treatment program that could not be considered at sentencing for his conviction of aggravated criminal sexual abuse. Where the trial court erred in considering material elicited from the defendant solely for the purpose of treatment and where this confidential information should not have been considered at the sentencing hearing without the defendant's express approval, the appellate court remanded the case for a new sentencing hearing before a different judge Id. at 1032, 1034-35.

In M.R.S. v. State, 897 P.2d 63, 64 (Alaska 1995), the trial court held a juvenile waiver hearing to determine if a juvenile accused of robbery should be tried as a juvenile or an adult. In authorizing the State to proceed against the juvenile as an adult, the trial court relied in part on a psychotherapist's testimony regarding his 1990 psychological examination of the juvenile, which had been ordered by the children's court in the disposition phase of an earlier, unrelated delinquency proceeding. The juvenile appealed, arguing that the admission of this evidence violated his evidentiary psychotherapist-patient privilege. The Supreme Court of Alaska agreed, holding the admission of the 1990 court-ordered psychological examination at the 1992 waiver hearing was a violation of the juvenile's psychotherapist-patient privilege. Id.

At the 1992 waiver hearing, the psychotherapist expressed doubt that the juvenile would be successfully rehabilitated before reaching his twentieth birthday. The psychotherapist based this opinion on his 1990 examination of the juvenile. Another forensic psychologist also confirmed that the juvenile was not amenable to treatment as a

minor and based this conclusion in part on the 1990 examination by the psychotherapist. Id. at 65. After considering the two doctors' testimony, the trial court concluded the juvenile was not amenable to treatment as a minor and authorized the State to proceed against the juvenile as an adult. Id.

In concluding that the psychotherapist-patient privilege should have prevented the psychotherapist's 1990 court-ordered examination of the juvenile from being utilized as evidence or a source of evidence in the waiver proceeding, the Supreme Court of Alaska considered the strong policy considerations, particularly in the context of juvenile proceedings, in including these types of court-ordered examinations within the psychotherapist-patient privilege, citing the reasoning of Justice Bistline of the Idaho Supreme Court in his concurring opinion in State v. Brown, 825 P.2d 482, 492-93 (Idaho 1992):

[W]hen defense attorneys realize that their juvenile clients' social and clinical studies will probably be available to those outside the juvenile system, they may advise their clients to not participate in those evaluations. It would be malpractice, in the view of some, for attorneys to fail to at least advise their juvenile clients of this possibility and some children may decide not to participate in those studies even though their attorneys think it may be in the child's best interest to obtain such an evaluation.

...

Children who now fully cooperate with the mental health professionals will be running the risk of increased confinement, should they commit an offense when they become adults. Those who do not cooperate will risk having juvenile jurisdiction waived. One of the factors used in deciding whether to waive juvenile jurisdiction is "[t]he likelihood of rehabilitation of the child..." In other words, the majority places children in a Catch-22 by discouraging them from being honest and forthright with those who have their best interest at heart for fear that their confidences will be automatically accessible to those who may later seek to punish them.

...

Children will be more likely to fully and honestly participate in the studies if they know their records are not automatically accessible by the adult system. This will increase the chances that a youthful offender will be successfully handled within the juvenile system.

M.R.S., 897 P.2d at 67-68 (citing Brown, 825 P.2d at 492-93).

Similar to the facts of the M.R.S. case, Appellant was ordered to receive treatment as a result of acts he committed as a juvenile. R. 26, l. 16 – 27, l. 11; R. 36 [Court's Exhibit 1 (N.C. Juvenile Adjudication)]. During that treatment, Appellant revealed confidential information to his therapist, including statements that he could not control himself and wanted to continue acting out sexually. R. 27, ll. 16-22. In violation of South Carolina's psychotherapist-patient privilege codified under § 19-11-95, the State then used this confidential and privileged information against Appellant during his sentencing hearing for his adult conviction. R. 27, ll. 16-22.

If this Court sanctions the use of confidential therapist-patient communications in sentencing proceedings, this will certainly chill communications between individuals and their providers. The State has an interest in seeing that people with emotional, mental, and substance abuse problems seek treatment. That treatment can only be effective where patients know that what they reveal to treatment professionals will remain confidential and will not be used against them in the future. The General Assembly passed this confidentiality statute to ensure that persons seeking treatment for emotional and substance abuse problems do so confident their secrets will not be disclosed to harm them.


Accordingly, the Trial Court erred in considering at sentencing the confidential communications made by Appellant to his therapist while in treatment because such communications were privileged under the psychotherapist-patient privilege set forth in §

19-11-95. Where the sentence was based in part on these confidential communications, Appellant is entitled to re-sentencing before a different judge. R. 33, l. 7 – 34, l. 2.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth herein, Appellant Michael Ramey respectfully requests this Court to vacate his sentence for assault with intent to commit criminal sexual conduct with a minor, second degree and remand the case for a new sentencing hearing before a different judge.