ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal From York County
The Honorable Daniel B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2013-002459

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL RAMEY,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
SC Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

KEVIN S. BRACKETT
Solicitor, Sixteenth Judicial Circuit

Moss Justice Center
1675-1A York Highway
York, SC 29745
(803) 628-3020

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

AUG 06 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal From York County

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

ARGUMENT

The circuit court did not err in considering information from Appellant's sex offender treatment counselor because it provided relevant and essential information necessary for sentencing, specifically the extent of his treatment and the nature and extent of Appellant's mental and emotional condition.

Appellant asserts the trial court erred in considering the information from a New Hope counselor, contending it was "privileged under the psychotherapist-patient privilege set forth in S.C. Code Ann. §19-11-95." As a threshold matter, this issue is not preserved for appellate review. Further, simply stated, Appellant's contention is just flat wrong because the cited statute does **not** create such a "privilege."

A. Preservation

"Generally, an issue must be both raised to and ruled upon by the trial court in order to be preserved for appellate review." In re Walter M., 386 S.C. 387, 688 S.E.2d 133, 136 (Ct. App. 2009). This preservation requirement enables the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments. I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 526 S.E.2d 716, 725 (2000). To that end, a party may not raise one ground in the trial court, and assert a different ground on appeal. *See State v. Patterson*, 324 S.C. 5, 482 S.E.2d 760, 767 (1997) ("Appellant is limited to the grounds raised at trial."); State v. Holland, 385 S.C. 159, 682 S.E.2d 898, 905 (Ct. App. 2009) (issue not preserved for review because appellant did not raise the specific ground before the trial court); State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 380, 580 S.E.2d 785, 795 (Ct. App. 2003) ("[A] defendant may not argue one ground below and another on appeal.").

Appellant never raised, or even alluded to, §19-11-95 as a bar to disclosure of the treatment information. The only grounds asserted before the circuit court were 1) the potential chilling effect of disclosure on similarly situated defendants, and 2) none of the

information resulted in a criminal charge. (HT, p. 19; R., p. 19). Further, he never claimed the information was “privileged” under either common or statutory law.

Therefore, the issue he now raises on appeal is not preserved for appellate review. Even if preserved, however, it is meritless.

B. Statute

“The cardinal rule of statutory interpretation is to ascertain and effectuate the intention of the legislature,” and when the statute’s terms are clear and unambiguous, “a court must apply it according to its literal meaning.” Sloan v. Hardee, 371 S.C. 495, 640 S.E.2d 457, 459 (2007). In interpreting a statute, “[w]ords must be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resort to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand the statute’s operation.” *Id.* Further, “the statute must be read as a whole and sections which are a part of the same general statutory law must be construed together and each one given effect.” Doe v. South Carolina Department of Social Services, 407 S.C. 623, 757 S.E.2d 711, 717 (2014) (*quoting S.C. State Ports Auth. v. Jasper Cnty.*, 368 S.C. 388, 629 S.E.2d 624 [2006]).

It is well-established appellate courts will not construe a statute by concentrating on an isolated phrase. Amisub of South Carolina, Inc. v. South Carolina Dept. of Health and Environmental Control, 407 S.C. 583, 757 S.E.2d 408, 416 (2014). “The true guide to statutory construction is not the phraseology of an isolated section or provision, but the language of the statute as a whole considered in the light of its manifest purpose, . . . , and the courts may not give to particular words a significance clearly repugnant to the meaning of the statute as a whole, or destructive of its obvious intent.” *Id.* (*quoting Laurens Cnty. Sch. Dists. 55 & 56 v. Cox*, 308 S.C. 171, 417 S.E.2d 560 [1992]).

Courts must construe statutory language in context. Hudson ex rel. Hudson v. Lancaster Convalescent Center, 407 S.C. 112, 754 S.E.2d 486, 492-493 (2014). “Further, statutes must be read as a whole and sections which are part of the same general statutory scheme must be construed together and each given effect, if it can be done by any reasonable construction.” Higgins v. State, 307 S.C. 446, 415 S.E.2d 799 (1992); *see also* Hembree v. One Thousand Eight Hundred Forty-Seven Dollars (1,847.00), U.S. Currency, 404 S.C. 241, 743 S.E.2d 864, 866 (Ct. App. 2013) (court must read statute such that no word, clause, sentence, provision or part is rendered surplusage, or superfluous, because when the legislature enacted the statute into law, it obviously intended the statute to have some efficacy).

South Carolina does not recognize a physician/patient testimonial privilege, either common law or statutory. See Peagler v. Atlantic Coast Line R. Co., 232 S.C. 274, 101 S.E.2d 821, 825-826 (1958) (no physical/patient testimonial privilege under common law or by statute); Snavely v. Amisub of South Carolina, Inc., 379 S.C. 386, 665 S.E.2d 222, 225 (Ct. App. 2008) (*citing* Peagler). “The terms ‘privilege’ and ‘confidences’ are not synonymous, and a professional’s duty to maintain his client’s confidences is independent of the issue **whether he can be legally compelled** to reveal some or all of those confidences, that is, whether those communications are privileged.” South Carolina State Bd. of Medical Examiners v. Hedgepath, 325 S.C. 166, 480 S.E.2d 724, 726 (1997) (emphasis added); Snavely, 665 S.E.2d at 225, n. 5.

Title 19, Chapter 11 of the South Carolina Code is entitled “Competency of Witnesses.” Section 19-11-95 is entitled “Confidences of patients of mental illness or emotional conditions,” and prohibits providers from knowingly and voluntarily revealing

patient confidences “[e]xcept when permitted or required by statutory or other law.” S.C. Code Ann. § 19-11-95(B) (2014). Significantly the statute expressly requires disclosure of confidences “**by court order for good cause shown to the extent that the patient's care and treatment or the nature and extent of his mental illness or emotional condition are reasonably at issue in a proceeding.**” S.C. Code Ann. §19-11-95(D) (2014) (emphasis added).

Contrary to Appellant’s contention, §19-11-95 does not establish a psychotherapist/patient “privilege.” Rather, it merely protects mental patients from a provider’s knowing and voluntary disclosure of “confidences” in the absence of some legal basis for disclosure, and provides patients a private cause of action for violations. S.C. Code §19-11-95(H) (2014) (patient has cause of action for damages for violations); *see also* McCormick v. England, 328 S.C. 627, 494 S.E.2d 431, 435 (Ct. App. 1997) (majority of jurisdictions have recognized a cause of action against a physician for the unauthorized disclosure of confidential information unless the disclosure is compelled by law, or is in the public interest). Unlike “privileged” communications that cannot be compelled as a matter of law, the confidences covered by §19-11-95 can be legally compelled.

The specific legislative intent not to create a testimonial privilege under §19-11-95 is amply demonstrated by considering it in light of other sections of Chapter 11. Section 19-11-30 states no husband or wife “may be required to disclose any confidential or, in a criminal proceeding, and communications made by one to the other during their marriage,” and applies to “any trial or inquiry in any suit, action, or proceeding in any court.” (emphasis added). Section 19-11-50 provides a criminal defendant’s testimony

“shall not be afterwards used against the defendant in any other criminal case.” (emphasis added).

Even more significant, §19-11-80 is entitled “**Privilege** against self-incrimination,” and provides no person “shall be required to answer any question tending to incriminate himself.” (emphasis added). Section 19-11-90, which is entitled “Priest-penitent **privilege**,” provides “no regular or duly ordained minister, priest or rabbi shall be required, in giving testimony, to disclose any confidential communication entrusted to him in his official capacity,” and applies to “any legal or quasi-legal trial, hearing or proceeding before any court, commission or committee.” (emphasis added). Finally, §19-11-100 is entitled “Qualified **privilege** against disclosure for news media; waiver,” and provides “a qualified privilege against disclosure of any information, document, or item obtained or prepared in the gathering or dissemination of news in any judicial, legislative, or administrative proceeding” when the person asserting the privilege is not a party in interest. (emphasis added).

When Chapter 11 is viewed in its entirety, the legislature clearly knew how to create a testimonial “privilege” when it intended to do so. The fact the word “privilege” is in subsections before and after §19-11-95, but not in §19-11-95 itself, manifests the legislative intent to afford some protection for communications between mental patients and their treatment providers, but not to make them absolutely privileged communications that cannot be disclosed in judicial proceedings.

To the extent §19-11-95 applied to the communications at issue in this case, which is not clear given the fact they were revealed in the course of court ordered treatment, the statute requires disclosure of such communications “when required by

statutory law or by court order . . . to the extent that the patient's care and treatment or the nature and extent of his mental illness or emotional condition are reasonably at issue in a proceeding." S.C. Code §19-11-95(D)(1) (2014) (emphasis added). In this case, there can be no doubt information regarding Appellant's mental status, particularly his progress in sex offender treatment, was crucial in determining an appropriate sentence.

"Generally, the circuit court may conduct an inquiry broad in scope, largely unlimited either as to the kind of information it may consider or the source from which the information may come, to assist it in determining the sentence to be imposed." State v. Thomason, 355 S.C. 278, 584 S.E.2d 143, 147 (Ct. App. 2003) (*citing State v. Gulledge*, 326 S.C. 220, 487 S.E.2d 590 [1997]). "In sentencing a convicted defendant a trial court is only limited by constitutional provisions that require the evidence to be relevant, reliance and trustworthy." State v. Hutto, 356 S.C. 384, 589 S.E.2d 202, 204 (Ct. App. 2003) (*citing Gulledge*).

This case is similar to State v. Terry, 339 S.C. 352, 529 S.E.2d 274 (2000), a capital murder case, in which the State sought medical records from Charter Rivers Hospital pertaining to treatment the defendant received approximately three months after the murder. The State argued "the records were relevant to the penalty phase of a capital trial insofar as they reflected the character of the defendant." *Id.* at 277. Relying on §19-11-95(D)(1), the Supreme Court found the defendant's mental and emotional status were "reasonably at issue" in that the jury was required to assess his character, and therefore, disclosure was appropriate. *Id.* at 278.

The instant case also involves a situation where the nature and extent of Appellant's mental and emotional condition needed to be examined for sentencing

purposes. Appellant received sex offender specific treatment from 2006-2011, which was outpatient treatment until 2008 when he violated probation by molesting girls at school. In 2010, after four years of treatment, including two years in a residential facility, his counselor expressed significant concerns regarding Appellant's lack of treatment progress, his admission he still could not control himself, and his desire to continue acting out sexually. (HT. p: 27; R., p. 27). These concerns were apparently justified, because Appellant committed another sexual offense against a minor less than a year after his release from the treatment facility. Clearly, the counselor's information served an important purpose in helping the circuit court determine the appropriate severity and structure of Appellant's sentence, particularly in light of Appellant's request for a probationary sentence.

Appellant contends allowing disclosure of treatment information will "chill communications between individuals and their providers," because "treatment can only be effective where patients know that what they reveal to treatment professionals will remain confidential and will not be used against them in the future." (Brief of Appellant, p. 13). Even assuming this may be true to a certain extent, South Carolina's courts and legislature have determined the information is not "privileged," and society's interest in the courts having access to particularly relevant information regarding a convicted defendant's mental/emotional condition may be paramount.

As provided by case law and statute, the decision regarding disclosure of patient confidences is committed to the circuit court's discretion, and those rulings should only be reversed for an abuse of discretion. The circuit court in this case properly exercised its discretion to consider information related Appellant's prior sex offender treatment, which

was highly relevant for sentencing purposes. Accordingly, the circuit court ruling should be affirmed